2001

Larson Ford Sales, Inc. v. J. Taylor Silver : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF CASE

This appeal alleges that § 78-6-10 Utah Code Annotated (1953) which requires an appellant from Small Claims Court to perfect his appeal within five (5) days after entry of judgment while the District, City, and Justice Courts allow thirty (30) days for filing appeals from the same lawsuit filed therein denied Taylor Silver the equal protection of the law.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURTS

1. On June 14, 1974, plaintiff Larson Ford Sales, Inc., commenced a lawsuit in the small claims court of Murray City seeking \$197.66 damages from Taylor Silver by filing their June 5, 1974, affidavit.

2. On July 11, 1974, trial was held before the Honorable LeRoy H. Griffiths, Judge of the Small Claims Court of Murray City who entered judgment against Taylor Silver in the amount of \$106.23.

3. On August 5, 1974, Taylor Silver through counsel filed a Notice of Appeal with the Murray City Court.

4. On December 15, 1975, the Honorable Bryant H. Croft Judge of the District Court for Salt Lake County, on Larson Ford Sales' Motion and pursuant to § 78-6-10 U.C.A. (1953) dismissed Taylor Silver's appeal. (Please note the Order prepared by John L. McCoy, Esq., is in error where it states "no one appearing for defendant" in that Gordon F. Esplin did appear for defendant as noted in the minute record).

NATURE OF RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

1. Declaration that § 78-6-10, Utah Code Annotated (is unconstitutional.

2. Declaration that appellants from Small Claims Court must be allowed thirty (30) days to perfect their appeals.

3. Ordering the District Court for Salt Lake County to reinstate Taylor Silver's appeal of the July 11, 1974, judgment entered in the Small Claims Court of Murray City.

MATERIAL FACTS

Larson Ford Sales, Inc., sought to recover \$197.66 from Taylor Silver, a Utah resident, by filing a lawsuit in the Small Claims Court of Murray City. On June 14, 1974, the Justice, City and District Courts would have had jurisdiction to decide the lawsuit if it had been filed in those courts (see jurisdiction: for Justice Courts § 78-5-2, U.C.A., (1953) for City Court § 78-4-14, U.C.A. (1953) and for District Court § 78-3-4, U.C.A. (1953)).

The challenged § 78-6-10 U.C.A. (1953) requires an appellant to file his notice "within five days from the entry of said judgment against him, appeal to the district court of the county in which said court is held." Rule 73(h) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure governing appeals from the City and Justice Courts states, "An appeal may be taken to the district court from a final judgment rendered in a city or justice court within one month after notice of the entry of such judgment, or within such shorter time as may be provided by law". Rule 73(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure states,

When an appeal is permitted from a district court to the Supreme Court, the time within which an appeal may be taken shall be one month from the entry of the judgment or order appealed from unless a shorter time

is provided by law, except that upon a showing of excusable neglect based on a failure of a party to learn of the entry of the judgment the district court in an action may extend the time for appeal not exceeding one month from the original time herein prescribed.

Thus, the laws of Utah allow an appellant thirty (30) days to appeal a judicial decision from the courts of original jurisdiction except for the five (5) day requirement of § 78-6-10, U.C.A. for Small Claims Courts. (All underlining in the preceding paragraph was added by this author to the original).

ARGUMENT

Article I § 2 of the Utah Constitution requires the Utah government to protect all Utah citizens equally. Section 1 of the 14th Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits the State of Utah from denying "any person within its jurisdiction equal protection of the laws." § 78-6-10, U.C.A. (1953) which states:

The judgment of said court shall be conclusive upon the plaintiff unless a counter claim has been interposed. If the defendant is dissatisfied, he may, within five days from the entry of said judgment against him, appeal to the district court of the county in which said court is held. Such district court may award the prevailing party on such appeal a reasonable attorney's fee to be fixed by the court.

denied appellant Taylor Silver the equal protection of the law.

POINT I. § 78-6-10, U.C.A. (1953) DOES NOT PROVIDE LIKE TREATMENT FOR ALL APPELLANTS FROM CIVIL LAWSUITS INVOLVING LESS THAN \$200.00 FROM COURTS OF ORIGINAL JURISDICTION IN THE STATE OF UTAH.

AND THERE IS NO RATIONAL BASIS FOR CLASSIFYING ONLY APPELLANTS FROM SMALL CLAIMS COURT FOR EXPEDITED TREATMENT.

Because of the supremacy clause in Article VI of the United States Constitution the United States Supreme Court is the ultimate authority on the United States Constitution. The Utah Supreme Court is likewise the ultimate authority in interpreting the Utah Constitution. Because the equal protection analysis of the two courts are similar the argument herein will cite only the teachings of the United States Supreme Court to avoid unnecessary repetition. The Supreme Court of the United States has traditionally been reluctant to set aside laws on the grounds of equal protection. The U. S. Supreme Court only required a law which classified individuals to accomplish its purpose in a reasonable manner. Railway Express Agency v. New York, 336 US 106, 69 S Ct 463, 93 L ed 533 (1949). In Railway, the City of New York sought to prohibit advertising on motor vehicles except for vehicles engaged in the advertised business. The United States Supreme Court held in Railway that the effect of the New York regulation prohibiting Railway Express Agency or anyone else from advertising for other concerns on their trucks was an unreasonable classification to gain the legislation's avowed purpose in promoting traffic safety when the vehicles of the other businesses could advertise on their own trucks. This is the traditional analysis used by the U. S. Supreme Court and the Utah court commonly known as the rational relation requirement. This analysis looks at three things.

First, the purpose of the law (in Railway the purpose was promoting traffic safety). Second, the reasonableness of the classification in relation to the purpose of the law. (in Railway the classification of vehicles displaying advertising for other businesses was held not to be reasonably related to the purpose of promoting traffic safety) And, third, the reasonableness of the law's effect (in Railway the law did not considerably improve traffic safety by reducing distraction to drivers but simply prohibited REA, etc., from deriving extra revenues from selling advertising on their trucks).

In applying the rational relation requirement to the facts of this case we find:

First, § 78-6-8, U.C.A.'s (1953)... "with the sole object of dispensing speedy justice between the parties" is probably the purpose of § 78-6-10's five (5) day time requirement.

Second, § 78-6-10, U.C.A. (1953) only applies to appellants from Small Claims Courts which § 78-6-1, U.C.A. (1953) restricts civil lawsuits to amounts involving less than \$200. The classification then is appellants from Small Claims Court. The crucial question for this court to consider is whether the goal of speedy justice is reasonably furthered by only requiring small claims appellants to perfect their appeals within five (5) days. As Justice Douglas said for the majority in Railway, Id. 110, "It is by such practical considerations based on experience rather than by theoretical inconsistencies that the question of equal protection is to be answered." The practicalities which this Court should consider are:

1. Though most small claims litigants represent themselves it is doubtful if many could successfully handle their own appeals since this court is well aware that the trained bar have a difficult time with appellate procedure.

2. The small claims appellant needs to contact a lawyer, get an appointment, and review the matter with his attorney. In Utah most require more than the five (5) days allowed to retain, consult with, and have an attorney file an appeal.

3. The Bar is generally unfamiliar with small claims procedure and would likely proceed as was done in the instant case assuming a thirty (30) day period to perfect appeals.

4. § 78-6-10, U.C.A. does not require the unsuccessful litigant in a small claims action be given notice of his right to appeal or of the short time period in which the appeal must be taken. There is no indication in the record that Mr. Silver ever received notice of his right to appeal and he certainly did not learn of the short time period until Larson Ford's December 15, 1975, Motion.

5. The appeal procedure from small claims court requires a trial de novo and thus the likelihood of involving attorneys is increased. The effect of the five (5) day appeal period is the same as though the unsuccessful litigant was served summons and complaint with only five (5) days to answer.

6. An extremely short time period in itself may offend due process. See Fallon v. U.S., 378 US 139, 12 L ed 2d 760, 84 S Ct 1689 in which a non-resident defendant was given ten (10)

days to drop all business and come to Texas to defend himself in a suit. See also Roller v. Holly, 176 US 398, 44 L ed 20 S Ct 410 in which a non resident was given five (5) days to answer a lienors action of foreclosure. Notice of a hearing means nothing if the petitioner is practically denied the opportunity of making an appearance. Mullane v. Central Hanover B & T Co., 339 US 305, 94 L ed 865, 70 S Ct 652.

Though five (5) days is speedy it is doubtful whether the goal of "speedy justice" or any justice, is furthered by requiring small claims appellants to perfect their appeals within five (5) days.

Third, the effect of § 78-6-10, U.C.A. (1953) is to prohibit only small claims appellants from perfecting their appeals after five days when appellants from the same judgment if entered in the Justice, City or District Courts have a full thirty (30) days. This underinclusive and discriminatory classification is untenable.

POINT II. ACCESS TO THE LEGAL PROCESS IS A FUNDAMENTAL RIGHT REQUIRING THE STATE TO SHOW A COMPELLING JUSTIFICATION FOR ANY CLASSIFICATION.

Historically, laws which classify individuals using suspect criteria or affect fundamental rights receive much strict scrutiny from the U. S. Supreme Court than the rational relationship requirement. The majority of the early strict scrutiny cases involved racial classifications. The landmark decisions which treat access to the courts and equality in that access as a

fundamental right are: Griffin v. Illinois, 351 US 12, 100 L ed 891 76 S Ct 585, 55 ALR 2d 1055; Douglas v. California, 372 US 353, 83 S Ct 814, 9 L ed 2d 811 (1963); and Boddie v. Connecticut, 401 US 371, 28 L ed 2d 113, 91 S Ct 780 (1971).

In Griffin, indigent criminal appellants were denied free transcripts by the Illinois State Court. Because individuals were being denied access to the courts because of their poverty the court merely labeled this "invidious discrimination" which violated equal protection and due process of law and required Illinois to correct the situation. The court's analysis was very brief. Once the fundamental right was perceived the opinion abruptly ended. Likewise in Douglas the Supreme Court did not examine the rationality of California's failure to provide separate lawyers for joint criminal defendants. The Douglas court merely labeled the denial "invidious discrimination" because of poverty involving the fundamental right of access to the court and ended the opinion.

In Boddie, indigents sought to require Connecticut to allow them access to the courts without court fees or costs of service to terminate their marriage. The court stated it could not and probably should not require poor and affluent to always be treated the same but in Boddie the only way to terminate a marriage in Connecticut was through court action. Thus, access to the court was a fundamental right for Mr. and Mrs. Boddie. After the court decided that the Boddies had

a fundamental right of access to the court, then the court held that court's are governed by due process fairness and the Boddies could not be denied that access because of their poverty.