2001

Larson Ford Sales Inc. v. J. Taylor Silver : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF CASE

This appeal involves the validity of Section 78-6-10 of the Utah Code Annotated (1953), which requires a defendant who is dissatisfied with a Judgment rendered against him in Small Claims Court to appeal that Judgment within five (5) days from the entry thereof to the District Court of the county in which said court is held.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

On August 5, 1974, the defendant appealed from an adverse decision entered on July 11, 1974, by the Honorable LeRoy

H. Griffiths, Judge of the Small Claims Court of Murray City, Utah, to the Third Judicial District Court of the County of Salt Lake. On December 15, 1975, on motion of plaintiff, the Honorable Bryant H. Croft, Judge of the District Court for Salt Lake County, dismissed the appeal of defendant, J. Taylor Silver, pursuant to Section 78-6-10 of the Utah Code Annotated (1953), on the grounds that the appeal was not taken timely. Plaintiff admits that Gordon Esplin appeared on behalf of the defendant at the Hearing on December 15, 1975, and that arguments were heard by the Court. Plaintiff apologizes for the clerical error in stating that no one appeared on behalf of defendant.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellant appeals on the law only, requesting a determination as to the validity of Section 78-6-10 of the Utah Code Annotated (1953), and seeks the court to overrule the decision of the Trial Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

By Affidavit dated June 5, 1974, plaintiff filed suit in the Small Claims Court of Murray City, Utah, to recover \$197.66, from J. Taylor Silver, a Utah resident, for parts and services used in repairing his car (R. 4). Trial was held before the Honorable LeRoy H. Griffiths, Judge of the Small Claims Court of Murray City on July 11, 1974, and Judgment was entered against J. Taylor Silver and in favor of plaintiff in the amount of \$106.23. On August 5, 1974, twenty-five (25) days after the Judgment was rendered in Small Claims Court, J. Taylor Silver obtained counsel

and filed a Notice of Appeal with Murray City Court (R. 3). Defendant's counsel also filed a motion pursuant to Rule 73(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure requesting that defendant be allowed to appeal without posting bond, on the grounds that defendant was not financially able to afford a bond, and was only able to pay the filing fees, (R. 8-9). Said Motion was granted, ex parte, on the 6th day of August, 1974, and plaintiff did not object to said Motion. On December 3, 1975, plaintiff filed a Motion to Dismiss the defendant's appeal in the District Court for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, on the grounds and for the reasons that Section 78-6-10 of the Utah Code Annotated (1953) requires that an appeal from Small Claims Court be made within five (5) days from the entry of Judgment, and that the appeal in this case had not been taken until twenty-five (25) days after entry of Judgment (R. 15). Plaintiff's Motion to Dismiss was heard on Monday, December 15, 1975, at the hour of 2:00 P.M., before the Honorable Bryant H. Croft, Judge of the District Court for Salt Lake County, State of Utah. At that time, the Court heard arguments of John L. McCoy representing the plaintiff and Gordon F. Esplin representing the defendant, and the Court thereafter entered its Order dismissing the appeal of J. Taylor Silver as requested in the Motion of plaintiff. Thereafter, plaintiff filed his appeal with this Court.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE PURPOSE OF SMALL CLAIMS COURT IS TO AFFORD THE SMALL CLAIMANT AN OPPORTUNITY TO SEEK LEGAL SATISFACTION UNENCUMBERED BY THE EXPENSES AND DELAY USUALLY ASSOCIATED WITH LITIGATION.

Small Claims Courts are a common part of the court system and are present in almost every American Jurisdiction. e.g. Cal. Civil Proc. Code, § 117 et seq. (West 1954); Idaho Code § 1-2301 et seq. These Courts were established to provide small claims litigants with speedy, low cost hearings, by employing a procedure designed to minimize the technicalities normally confronting the parties involved in a legal dispute. This concept benefits persons of all socio-economic levels by reducing the time and expense involved in litigation. Attorneys are not needed (and in some states even forbidden: e.g., Cal Civil Pro. Code § 117g; Idaho Code § 1-2308) and courtroom procedure is informal. Access to the courts is thereby made readily available to people who would normally be discouraged by the expense and formality of a lawsuit. More people are allowed their day in court with no abandonment of the rules of substantive law. The courts also benefit from this type of system with a reduced caseload. A maximum number of cases can be adjudicated in a minimum amount of time without overloading the court system or prolonging a remedy to the parties. One of the procedural aspects which the Legislature had to determine when establishing Small Claims Court was the mode of appeal. The Utah Legislature determined that five (5) days was the most appropriate and beneficial amount of time to be allowed for an appeal while furthering the goals of the Small Claims Court. Section 78-6-10, Utah Code Annotated (1953). Contrary to appellant's contentions, five (5) days does not deny a defendant access to the courts, but simply requires that he exercise his appeal option within the prescribed

five-day period so that the case may be disposed of judiciously. Furthermore, Section 78-6-10 of the Utah Code Annotated (1953) denies the plaintiff an appeal under any circumstances unless a counterclaim has been interposed by defendant. Therefore, in the interest of speedy and judicious treatment of small claims matters, the Legislature saw fit to facilitate this type of court system by restricting the mode of appeal of all small claimants. Nor is the five-day-appeal provision unreasonable since it applies equally to all small claimants equally situated within the State of Utah. As the court said in Rinaldi v. Yeager, 384 U.S. 305, 16 LEd2d 477, 86 S.Ct. 1947, which is cited in appellant's Brief, "Once the avenues to appellate review are established, they must be kept free of unreasonable distinctions that can only impede open and equal access to the courts." This case stands for the principle that once an appeal procedure has been established, it must be kept open and equally accessible to all people who come within its confines. In the present case, the appellant was not treated differently from any other small claims court defendant and was equally afforded the "avenue" of appellant review set forth in Section 78-6-10 of the Utah Code Annotated (1953).

POINT II

THERE IS NO CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO AN APPEAL FROM SMALL CLAIMS COURT

Section 9, Article 8 of the Constitution of the State of Utah provides a right of appeal from final judgments of District and Justice's Courts under those conditions provided

by law. However, this provision does not apply to Small Claims Court, and in the absence of Constitutional or Statutory provision granting a right to appeal, due process and equal protection are not violated by the absence or restriction of an appeal privilege. Patterich v. Carbon Water Conservancy District, 107 Ut. 55, 145 P2d 502 (1944); Skaggs v. Small Claims Court for Los Angeles Judicial District of Los Angeles County, 68 C2d 76, 435 P2d 825 (1968). Small Claims Court is not a court contemplated by the Constitution and is strictly a creature of Statute, entitled only to those rights provided by law.

POINT III

EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAWS IS NOT DENIED BY THE APPLICATION OF A SPECIFIC COURSE OF PROCEDURE TO LEGAL PROCEEDINGS IN WHICH A PARTICULAR PERSON IS AFFECTED, WHEN SUCH A COURSE IS ALSO APPLIED TO ANY OTHER PERSON IN THE STATE UNDER SIMILAR CIRCUMSTANCES AND CONDITIONS.

Equal protection of the laws is denied only if a statute does not provide equal access to the court by imposing a rule which does not apply equally to all persons invoking the same kinds of claims and rights. In the case of Utah small claimants, all defendants are provided the same right of access to the courts. Five (5) days is allowed to each and every small claims defendant, with no variation in treatment made amongst the class. In the case of Missouri v. Lewis, 101 U.S. 22, 25 LEd 987 (1946), it was held that equal protection of the laws in respect to legal proceedings does not required that every person in the land shall possess the same rights and privileges of every other person, and does not forbid proper and reasonable classification on the field of court proceedings. See also

Salzburg v. Maryland, 346 U.S. 545 (1954); State v. Phillips, 540 P2d 943 (1975). Small Claims Court is exactly that, a reasonable classification designed to treat a specific type of person or litigant. Equal protection of the law regarding appeals implies only that all litigants similarly situated may appeal to the courts under like conditions, with like protections and without discrimination. It is a well-settled rule that a state may classify persons and objects for the purpose of legislations, and may pass laws applicable only to persons or objects within a designated class. Skinner v. Oklahoma, 316 U.S. 535, 86 LEd 1655, 62 S.Ct. 1110.

POINT IV

THE EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSE DOES NOT EXACT UNIFORMITY OF PROCEDURE, AND THE LEGISLATURE MAY REASONABLY CLASSIFY LITIGATION AND ADOPT ONE TYPE OF PROCEDURE FOR ONE CLASS AND A DIFFERENT TYPE FOR ANOTHER.

This point is set forth in the case of Dohany v. Rodgers, 281 U.S. 362, 74 LEd. (Adv. 365), 50 S.Ct.Rep. 299, 68 ALR 434, 441, where the Court stated that "the due process clause does not guarantee to the citizen of a state any particular form or method of state procedure. Under it he may neither claim a right to trial by jury nor a right of appeal. Its requirements are satisfied if he has reasonable notice and reasonable opportunity to be heard and to present his claim or defense, due regard being had to the nature of the proceeding and the character of the rights which may be effected by it." "Nor does the equal protection clause exact uniformity of procedure. The legislature may classify litigation and adopt one type of pro-

cedure for one class and a different type for another." As previously mentioned, Section 78-6-10 of the Utah Code Annotated (1953) does not allow the plaintiff to appeal unless a counterclaim has been interposed. The defendant, on the other hand, is given a right of appeal which must be exercised within five (5) days.

Plaintiff believes that the cases of Boddie v. Connecticut, 401 U.S. 371, 28 LEd2d 113, 91 S.Ct. 780 (1971); Griffin v. Illinois, 351 U.S. 12, 100 LEd 891, 76 S.Ct. 585; and Douglas v. California, 372 U.S. 353, 83 S.Ct. 814, 9 LEd2d 811 (1963), cited in appellant's Brief are not applicable to the issues raised by this appeal. Those cases involved indigents who, because of their poverty, could not avail themselves of redress in the courts on a level equal to that of wealthier persons. Those cases dealt with discrimination between the rich and the poor. The Small Claims Court System, however, is the exact opposite, with one of its prime benefits being to provide all persons, rich or poor, with access to the courts quickly and at a minimum expense. There is no question that the appellant, J. Taylor Silver, should have access to the courts. In this case he was the defendant and did not initiate court action, but he was provided with an additional benefit not afforded the plaintiff, that being the right to appeal from an adverse decision. J. Taylor Silver was allowed the same procedural rights as all other persons within the State of Utah equally situated. His right to appeal from Small Claims Court to District Court was not impeded in any manner, and he simply failed to exercise his option promptly as required by the law.

Appellant sets forth in his Brief the rational relation requirement of equal protection. The three main elements of this analysis, as set forth by appellant, are the purpose of the law, the reasonableness of the classification as it relates to the law, and the reasonableness of the effect of the law. Plaintiff believes that the entire Small Claims Court Act must be considered in applying this analysis to the present case. The purpose of the law is, first, to provide a means of expeditious treatment for small matters which, because of their nominal value, would foreclose the possibility of suit if it was necessary to engage counsel or become involved in lengthy court proceedings, and second, to help alleviate the caseload burden that the City and District Courts face. The classification consists of setting apart those persons engaged in disputes which involve \$200.00 or less, and establishing procedural rules to govern their court proceedings. These rules necessarily set forth what, if any, is the mode of appeal. In this case, the defendant is given five (5) days to appeal, and the plaintiff is given an appeal only if he is ruled against on a counterclaim. The very real effect of this law is to treat small matters quickly and judiciously, with an equal opportunity afforded each small claimant to have his day in court and with exact procedural guidelines applied equally to all members of the class. The limited appeal privileges help attain this result.

On Page 7 of appellant's Brief he lists certain practicalities which the Court should consider in determining the

reasonableness of the classification for equal protection purposes. However, plaintiff believes that there are other practicalities which the defendant overlooked including the following:

(a) The burden which would exist on the courts if all matters and claims under \$200.00 were added to the City or District Court caseload.

(b) The appropriateness of a system which allows persons to resolve minor disputes on their own without additional legal expenses or long court delays. (In fact, the Small Claims Court System favors poor claimants, as in this case.)

Also, it appears to respondent that the arguments set forth in Section 6 on Page 7 of appellant's Brief regarding short time are not applicable in this case. Both cases cited by appellant regard non-residents who are required, within short time periods, ten days in one case and five in another, to answer to the courts of another state. In addition, the Utah Supreme Court in Gallegos v. Midvale City, 27 Ut2d 492, P2d 1335 (1971), held that a plaintiff was not deprived of equal protection of the laws by a statute that required notice of a claim for damages or injury against a city be given to the Board of Commissioners or City Council of such city within thirty (30) days of the happening of the injury or damages. Section 10-7-77 of the Utah Code Annotated (1953). This Statute effectively shortened the time that a person would normally have in initiating an action in tort.

CONCLUSION

Section 78-6-10 of the Utah Code Annotated (1953) establishes a proper classification which treats all persons

within the class equally and is in total agreement with the Equal Protection Clause of the Constitution of the United States and the State of Utah. There is neither a suspect criteria involved here, such as race, nationality or alienage, nor a fundamental First Amendment right requiring a compelling governmental interest before it may be significantly regulated. Therefore, the legislation involved here need only have a rational justification for its existence. Flemming v. Nestor, 363 U.S. 603.